### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-KA-00694-COA NO. 2009-KA-00695-COA

REGINALD SHELTON, and CALVIN P. SHELTON, JR.

**APPELLANTS** 

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

WM. ANDY SUMRALL P. O. Box 1068 Jackson MS 39215 601 355-8775 MSB #

Counsel for Appellants

### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-KA-00694-COA NO. 2009-KA-00695-COA

REGINALD SHELTON, and CALVIN P. SHELTON, JR.

**APPELLANTS** 

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

#### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER THE SHELTONS' MOTION TO SUPPRESS

SHOULD HAVE BEEN SUSTAINED?

ISSUE NO. 2: WHETHER THE STATE PROVED CHAIN OF CUSTODY OF

THE ALLEGED DRUG EVIDENCE?

**ISSUE NO. 3:** WHETHER THE SHELTONS WERE WRONGFULLY DENIED

A THEORY OF DEFENSE INSTRUCTIONS?

ISSUE NO. 4: WHETHER THE VERDICT IS SUPPORTED BY THE WEIGHT

OF EVIDENCE?

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The appeal of these consolidated cases proceeds from the Circuit Court of Madison County, Mississippi, wherein the appellants Calvin and Reginald Shelton were convicted of possession of more than five (5) kilograms of marijuana in a jury trial held January 13-14, 2009, the Honorable William E. Chapman, III, Circuit Judge, presiding. Both appellants were sentenced to twenty-five years imprisonment, with five years of supervised release and both are presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

#### **FACTS**

On February 20, 2006, Calvin Shelton and his brother Reginald Shelton, both of Atlanta, were traveling southbound on Interstate 55 between Gluckstadt and Madison at about 2:15 a. m. [T. 6, 9, 13-14, 110, 143-45]. The car was rented and Calvin was driving. [T. 6, 146].

Officer Robert Sanders with the Madison County Sheriff's Office Interstate Crime Enforcement Unit was sitting on the side of the road at or near mile marker 112 near Gluckstadt. [T. 12, 14, 144-45]. Sanders could not recall on which side of the road he was parked. [T. 179].

The Shelton brothers were not speeding nor violating any other traffic law when Sanders first observed them. [T. 13, 180-82, 231-34]. Nevertheless, Sanders arbitrarily pulled out onto the highway and followed the Sheltons for the stated purpose of observing the driver and to "monitor their travel". [T. 25, 179].

Within two miles of pulling out behind the Sheltons, Sanders said he observed the Sheltons' vehicle "failing to maintain a single lane... [the] vehicle was observed weaving off to the shoulder of the road to the center lane" twice and Sanders initiated a traffic stop. [T. 7-8]. Sanders said, the driver "actually went over to the shoulder of the road ... [a]nd then whenever he corrected he actually went to the center." [T. 15]. Again, specifically, Sanders said the Shelton vehicle "crossed onto the fog line, then back over to the center line." [T. 183]. Sanders said he stopped the Sheltons for the purpose of

issuing a careless driving ticket and to make sure it was safe for them to continue down the road and that the driver was not too tired to drive or intoxicated. [T. 179, 187].

The Sheltons both testified that Sanders pulled up beside them on the highway, passed and then turned on his blue lights to effectuate the stop. [T. 33, 242]. Sanders denied pulling up beside the Sheltons' car. [T. 185]. In either event, the Sheltons pulled over and Sanders came in behind.

Sanders asked Calvin the driver to step to the rear of their vehicle with his drivers license and rental agreement. [T. 34, 145-47]. Sanders said he knew the car was a rental after he noticed a bar code on the window. [T. 147].

Calvin exited the vehicle and produced a valid Georgia drivers license and a valid rental contract. [T. 8-9, 15, 145-47]. Sanders said he had observed the brothers rummaging around for the rental papers and acting "nervous", which Sanders described as failing to make eye contact with the officer. [T.9-10, 190].

Sanders asked Calvin where the two had been, and was told they attended a wedding in New Mexico and were traveling back home to the Atlanta area. [T. 9, 190]. Sanders said he performed a pat down of Calvin and noticed a bulge in his pocket which Calvin reportedly said was "a couple of dollars." [T.10]. The amount of money was \$2674 which Calvin said he earned from working. [T. 39].

Calvin said Sanders' first question was whether Calvin had been arrested before.

[T. 35-36]. Calvin answered in the affirmative. [T. 11-12].

Sanders then approached the passenger side of the car to engage Reginald. [T. 9]. When asked about their travel, Reginald told Sanders the two had been in New Mexico visiting friends. [T. 10, 190, 231]. Again, Sanders said that Reginald avoided making eye contact with him. *Id.* [T. 150, 192].

Officer Sanders then returned to the back of the Sheltons' vehicle where Calvin awaited. [T. 11]. Sanders then asked for consent to search the vehicle which was denied. [T. 11, 35-36, 151-52].

At this point Sanders said the purpose of the stop was not over, because, of the "conflicting" stories, wedding versus visiting friends. [T. 19]. Sanders did not conduct any field sobriety tests and never asked Calvin nor Reginald if they had been drinking. [T. 15, 187-88].

Sanders then went and retrieved a narcotics sniffing canine and walked the dog around the Sheltons' car. [T. 12, 13, 153-54]. The dog alerted on the trunk area by scratching. *Id.* Prior to this, Sanders had called for a backup unit and Officer Pecu arrived with his canine. [T. 11].

Sanders said he opened the trunk of the Sheltons' vehicle and found a duffle bag with "twenty-five" pounds of marijuana. [T. 13, 154]. The weight assigned subsequently by the Mississippi Crime Lab was eighteen pounds. [T. 175, 219]. The state never explained the discrepancy or how seven pounds of marijuana came up missing.

Sanders also said he found a black notebook in the back seat of the Shelton's car

in which he said there was an inscription, "keep quiet, they may have a bug in the car."

[T. 163-66]. The notebook, although said to have been seized by Sanders along with the alleged marijuana, could not be located. [T. 200]. The Sheltons denied the existence of the black notebook. [T. 246-47].

The Sheltons denied that their vehicle was weaving and denied any knowledge of any marijuana in the car. [T. 32, 40]. Reginald said they did not even know what they were being charged with until their initial appearance. [T. 236-37, 239].

Sanders issued a traffic violation affidavit for "careless driving." [T. 211]. There was no video of the incident as Sanders said his camera was being repaired at the time. [T. 26, 200].

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The officer's stop was pretextual and the scope of the stop was exceeded making the subsequent search and seizure illegal. The state failed to present a sufficient chain of custody for the alleged marijuana because the evidence was not labeled. The jury did not receive a valid requested defense theory jury instructions and the verdict was not supported by the weight of evidence.

#### **ARGUMENT**

**ISSUE NO. 1:** 

WHETHER THE SHELTONS' MOTION TO SUPPRESS SHOULD HAVE BEEN SUSTAINED?

Standard of Review

Under this issue there is a mixed standard of review. Floyd v. City of Crystal Springs, 749 So.2d 110, 113(¶ 11) (Miss.1999). For reasonable suspicion and probable cause, the review is de novo. Id. The trial court's factual findings made in support of its legal conclusions are reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard. Id. Otherwise, evidentiary rulings are reviewed on a standard of abuse of discretion and any resulting prejudice. Id. See also, Dies v. State, 926 So. 2d 910, 917 (¶ 20) (Miss. 2006).

Discussion

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 3, § 23 of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890 secure an individual's right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures. Floyd 749 So.2d at 114 (¶ 14). The purpose of the "Fourth Amendment is to 'shield the citizen from unwarranted intrusions into his privacy.' "Jones v. United States, 357 U.S. 493, 499, 78 S.Ct. 1253 (1958). The Fourth Amendment is incorporated to states through the Fourteenth Amendment. U. S. v. Grant, 349 F.3d 192, 196 (5th Cir.2003).

Except for a few specifically established exceptions, warrantless searches are per se unreasonable. *Katz v. United States*, 389 U.S. 347, 357, 88 S.Ct. 507 (1967).

Contraband that is discovered during an unreasonable, illegal, search may not be admitted into evidence at a subsequent trial. *Carney v. State*, 525 So.2d 776, 785 (Miss.1988), *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 30, 88 S.Ct. 1868 (1968). There is a rule of strict construction of search and seizure provisions in favor of the individual and against the state. *Barker v. State*, 241 So. 2d 355, 358 (Miss. 1970).

One exception to the warrant requirement is provided, due to impracticalities, for routine traffic stops which are treated as non-custodial investigatory stops under *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 20, 88 S.Ct. 1868 (1968). Traffic stops are seizures for the purposes of the Fourth Amendment. *Couldery v. State*, 890 So.2d 959, 962 (¶ 8) (Miss. Ct. App.2004), *United States v. Lopez-Moreno*, 420 F.3d 420, 430 (5th Cir. 2005).

That which justifies an investigative stop is a case by case determination.

Singletary v. State, 318 So.2d 873, 877 (Miss. 1975). The test nevertheless is one of reasonableness and the United States Supreme Court has stated that, as a general rule, "the decision to stop an automobile is reasonable where the police have probable cause to believe that a traffic violation has occurred." Whren v. United States, 517 U.S. 806, 810, 116 S.Ct. 1769, 1772, 135 L.Ed.2d 89 (1996).

As stated in *Floyd*, *supra*, "given reasonable circumstances an officer may stop and detain a person to resolve an ambiguous situation without having sufficient knowledge to justify an arrest." 749 So.2d at 114 (¶16). Citing *Singletary v. State*, 318 So.2d 873, 876 (Miss.1975). See also *McCray v. State*, 486 So.2d 1247, 1249

(Miss. 1986) and Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968).

Under *Terry* there is a two-tiered "reasonable suspicion" inquiry under which a deciding court asks whether a officer's conduct was (1) justified at its inception; and (2) whether the search and seizure were reasonably related in scope to the circumstances which initially justified the stop. *Floyd*, 749 So.2d at 114 (¶17), *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 20, 88 S.Ct. 1868.

There is a requirement that "the investigative methods employed should be the least intrusive means reasonably available to verify or dispel the officer's suspicion in a short period of time." Florida v. Royer, 460 U.S. 491, 500, 103 S.Ct. 1319, 75 L.Ed.2d 229 (1983). Unless there is additional articulable, reasonable suspicion, an individual's detention must end when the officer's suspicion is confirmed or disproved. Id. "At that point, continuation of the detention is no longer supported by the facts that justified its initiation." United States v. Shabazz, 993 F.2d 431, 436 (5th Cir.1993).

Under the automobile exception police may conduct a warrantless search of an automobile and any containers therein if they have probable cause to believe that it contains contraband or evidence of crime. *California v. Acevedo*, 500 U.S. 565, 576, 111 S.Ct. 1982, 114 L.Ed.2d 619 (1991), *Millsap v. State*, 767 So.2d 286, 292 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000).

Since the present case involves a narcotics trained dog, it is pertinent to note that "free-air" dog sniffs do not generally constitute a search or seizure under the Fourth

Amendment. United States v. Seals, 987 F.2d 1102, 1106 (5th Cir.1993), United States v. Place, 462 U.S. 696, 707 (1983). So, police do not generally need probable cause to run a dog around the exterior of a car. United States v. Duffaut, 314 F.3d 203, 208 (5th Cir.2002), United States v. Hernandez, 976 F.2d 929, 930 (5th Cir.1992), United States v. Ibarra, 493 F.3d 526, 531 (5th Cir.2007).

#### A. Application of the First Prong of the Terry Test

Here in the Sheltons' case, there was no justification for the stop of the vehicle from the outset. There was no "objectively reasonable suspicion" that illegal activity, specifically a traffic violation, occurred, or was about to occur. The stop was pretextual.

Sanders said the stop of the Shelton's vehicle was for failing to maintain a single lane of traffic. [T. 7-8]. However, what Sanders described was a vehicle remaining in its lane of traffic, specifically stating, "[the] vehicle was observed weaving off to the shoulder of the road to the center lane" twice. Id. Sanders said, the driver "actually went over to the shoulder of the road ... [a]nd then whenever he corrected he actually went to the center." [T. 15]. Sanders said the Shelton vehicle "crossed onto the fog line, then back over to the center line." [T. 183]. Sanders did not describe the vehicle leaving its lane of traffic. Therefore, there was no legal basis for the stop.

Careless driving is a statutory offense, defined in Miss. Code Ann. § 63-3-1213 (1972):

Any person who drives any vehicle in a careless or imprudent manner, without due regard for the width, grade, curves, corner, traffic and use of the streets and highways and all other attendant circumstances is guilty of careless driving. Careless driving shall be considered a lesser offense than reckless driving.

In Adams v. City of Booneville, 910 So.2d 720, 722-25 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005), the issue was whether there was reasonable suspicion for the stop of the defendant's vehicle. It was New Year's Day around 2:30 a.m., an officer observed the Adams "in the middle of the two northbound lanes on a four lane road". By the time the officer stopped Adams, Adams had made a left turn into a parking lot. Id. The officer proceeded to make a traffic stop in order to issue a citation for careless driving. Id. Adams exited his vehicle obviously drunk, his speech was slurred and he flunked three field sobriety tests as well as a subsequent Intoxilyzer test. Id. So, he was charged with DUI also. Id.

Adams argued that the stop was illegal, and that he was merely changing lanes and making a legal left turn. The *Adams* court concluded that the defendant' traveling in the middle of the two northbound lanes met the statutory definition of careless driving. *Id.* at 724.

The facts of the present case are not comparable to *Adams*, the Sheltons were never described as driving in the middle of the road. The *Adams* court said that case was a "close call". 910 So.2d 725 (¶18). This Sheltons' case is not.

In Henderson v. State, 878 So.2d 246, 247(¶¶ 7-8) (Miss. Ct. App.2004), a police officer noticed Henderson driving his vehicle "erratically." The officer stated that

Henderson almost hit a curb, stopped at a stop sign, then proceeded through the intersection and almost hit another curb." The *Henderson* court concluded the officer's observations were enough for him to reasonably and objectively conclude that careless driving had taken place. *Id*.

What distinguishes the present case from *Henderson* is first, Shelton was not described as driving erratically, secondly, there is a distinct difference between a curb and white line on the highway. A curb is a physical barrier which could damage a vehicle or cause it to lose control, a curb is not ever intended to be crossed. The white line on a highway is informational, perfectly safe and designed to be crossed over.

However, the officer did not describe the Shelton's vehicle crossing the white line. Without a traffic violation being described by Sanders in the present case, there was no objective basis for the stop. If the facts are such that what the police observed did not constitute a violation of the cited traffic law, there is no "objective basis" for the stop, and the stop is illegal. *U.S. v. Escalante*, 239 F.3d 678, 680-81 (5th Cir.2001).

Without a reasonable basis for the stop, this case is governed by decision in which the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals "have ruled that actions which do not constitute criminal offenses are not objective bases for a stop, and, therefore, the stops are illegal." *McNeely v. State*, 277 So.2d 435 (Miss.1973); *Couldery v. State*, 890 So.2d 959 (Miss. Ct. App.2004).

In Couldery, the officer initiated a traffic stop for driving in the left-hand lane on

the interstate. After reviewing the statutory offenses the officer put forth as the basis for the citation, the Court concluded that the actions of the driver did not constitute a criminal offense, that driving in the left-hand lane on the interstate was not illegal.

Therefore, the officer's misapprehension of the law precluded the stop from being valid.

Couldery, 890 So.2d at 967.

Here, the evidence is that officer Sanders was acting on a hunch, or was on a fishing expedition, from the moment he pulled onto the highway. What Sanders said he observed was not a moving traffic violation because the Shelton's vehicle never left its lane of traffic, it only moved to the fog line and to the center line. Under a totality of the circumstances, Sanders did not have a reasonable, objective, basis that Calvin Shelton had committed the traffic offense of careless driving. Therefore, the alleged marijuana in this case is the fruit of a search incident to an illegal stop in violation of the Fourth Amendment right to be free from illegal search and seizure. See *Wong Sun v. United States*, 371 U.S. 471, 485-86, 83 S.Ct. 407, 416, 9 L.Ed.2d 441 (1963), and *Couldery*, 890 So.2d at 967.

### B. The Second Prong of the Terry Test

If probable cause is proven, then a non-custodial investigatory stop should, nevertheless, not exceed the scope of the initial stop, i. e., the investigation should reasonably relate to the circumstances initially giving rise to the stop. *Terry*, 392 U.S. at

19-20, 88 S.Ct. 1868. Any detention of the individual must be "temporary and last no longer than is necessary to effectuate the purpose of the stop ...." *United States v. Brigham*, 382 F.3d 500, 507 (5th Cir.2004). If additional reasonable suspicion arises in the course of the stop, and before the initial purpose of the stop has been fulfilled, the detention may continue until the officer confirms or dispels the new reasonable suspicion. *Brigham*, 382 F.3d at 507. The permissible scope of the stop may expand to include the officer's investigation of the newly suspected criminal activity. *U.S. v. Kye Soo Lee*, 898 F.2d 1034, 1040 (5th Cir.1990) and *U.S. v. Santiago*, 310 F.3d 336, 340 (5th Cir.2002)]. Here it is the Sheltons' position that even if the court finds probable cause, Officer Sanders' detention of them exceeded the purpose of the initial stop and there was no legal basis to expand the investigation.

In Jaramillo v. State 950 So.2d 1104, 1106-07 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) recognized that if a traffic stop is "prolonged unreasonably for the purpose of a canine sniff [a defendant may be] able to challenge the constitutionality" of any search resulting therefrom.

Here, since the purpose of the stop had been completed, namely, to check for intoxication or fatigue and issue a citation, the authority for the stop had ceased at the point Sanders saw that Calvin was not drunk or tired and had presented valid documentation. At that point the Sheltons should have been allowed to go on their way. Yet Sanders questioning of the Sheltons was a classic set up. There was no need for the

officer to ask where the defendants were they were going. Admittedly, the officer could make conversation to observe the driver, but there was no reason to ask the passenger where he had been, except to create the conflicting answer. It is common knowledge that two people asked the same question will rarely give an exactly identical answer. So, conflicting answers is not a reliable indication of possible illegal activity.

Sanders' pretextual intent is obvious. Even though he said he stopped the Sheltons on the suspicion of intoxication, he never asked if the driver nor the passenger were drinking and never performed any field sobriety tests. [T. 15, 187-88].

The Fifth Circuit has been very clear in this area, that independent probable cause to search the vehicle and its containers was needed after the purpose of the initial stop had been completed. See *U. S. v. Brigham*, 343 F. 3d 490, 499-505 (5th Cir. 2003), where the court found that detention and questioning following a clear computer and documentation check resulted in a coerced and invalid consent to search of a stopped motor vehicle. See also, *U. S. v. Dortch*, 199 F. 3d 193 (5th Cir. 1999) and *U. S. v. Santiago*, 310 F. 3d 336 (5th Cir. 2002).

The facts of *Dortch* are almost identical to the present case. At 11:30 p.m., two highway patrol officers stopped Dortch and his girlfriend, purportedly for traveling too close to a tractor-trailer. Dortch produced a valid license and car rental papers that were in another person's name. 199 F. 3d 195-96. Dortch was patted down search and he was not carrying a weapon. *Id*.

Dortch and the passenger gave inconsistent answers about the person who had rented the car. *Id.* Plus, even though Dortch said that the two had been in Houston, the rental papers showed was been rented out of Pensacola. Dortch said there was no luggage in the car. *Id.* 

One officer questioned Dortch, the other took Dortch's license and rental papers and called in a computer check for warrants and to check on whether the car was stolen.

Id. Contemporaneously, a request was made to search the vehicle. Dortch consented to a search of the trunk but not the rest of the vehicle, no search of the vehicle was conducted at that time.

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