IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**REGINALD SHELTON
AND CALVIN P. SHELTON, JR.**

APPELLANT

VS.

**NO. 2009-KA-0694
- consolidated with -
NO. 2009-KA-0695**

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

**BY: STEPHANIE B. WOOD
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO. [REDACTED]**

**OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
POST OFFICE BOX 220
JACKSON, MS 39205-0220
TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680**

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court properly denied the Appellant's motion to suppress. Substantial credible evidence was presented establishing not only that the stop was valid and legal but also that the detention did not exceed the scope of the stop. The officer articulated specific facts supporting his decision to stop the Appellants for careless driving. As he had probable cause to believe that a traffic violation had occurred, the stop was reasonable. Additionally, the detention did not exceed the scope of the stop as each of the officer's actions taken during the detention were reasonably related to the purpose of the stop.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the black duffle bag containing marijuana into evidence as the State sufficiently established the proper chain of custody. The Appellants failed to meet their burden on appeal of proving that the bag in question and its contents were anything other than what they were purported to be.

The trial judge properly denied proposed jury instructions regarding unreasonable searches as it is the trial judge's responsibility, not the jury's responsibility, to determine the legality of searches. Additionally, the verdict was not against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

ARGUMENT

I. THE SUBSTANTIAL CREDIBLE EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT THE SUPPRESSION HEARING SUPPORTS THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION TO DENY THE APPELLANTS' MOTION TO SUPPRESS.

The Appellants first argue that the black duffle bag containing marijuana should have been suppressed from the evidence as “there was no probable cause to stop [the Appellants] and as the scope of the stop was exceeded.” (Appellants’ Brief p. 17). The standard of review for “suppression hearing findings is whether or not substantial credible evidence supports the trial court’s findings considering the totality of the circumstances.” *Price v. State*, 752 So.2d 1070, 1073 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999). “The appellate review should disturb the findings of the lower court only where there is an absence of substantial credible evidence supporting it.” *Id.* (*emphasis added*). Further, “the proponent seeking to overturn a denial of a motion to suppress has the burden of proving, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the confession or evidence in question were obtained in violation of his Fourth Amendment rights.” *Walker v. State*, 913 So.2d 198, 225 (Miss. 2005).

The Appellants claim that “there was not justification for the stop of [their] vehicle from the outset.” (Appellants’ Brief p. 9). The Mississippi Supreme Court has noted that there is no “concrete rule to determine what circumstances justify an investigatory stop.” *Floyd v. City of Crystal Springs*, 749 So.2d 110,115 (Miss. 1999) (citing *Green v. State*, 348 So.2d 428, 429 (Miss. 1977)). The Court also noted that the “question is approached on a case by case basis.” *Id.* However, as a general rule, “the decision to stop an automobile is reasonable where the police have probable cause to believe that a traffic violation has occurred.” *Id.* (quoting *Whren v. United States*,

517 U.S. 806, 810, 116 S.Ct. 1769, 1772, 135 L.Ed.2d 89 (1996)). In the case at hand, the officer clearly articulated his reason for observing the Appellants' vehicle in the first place and for ultimately stopping the Appellants' vehicle:

- Q: . . . So you pulled out behind them at [mile marker 112]?
A: Yes, sir.
Q: Okay, why?
A: To observe their driving.
Q: Was there any particular reason?
A: Yes, sir. Generally, vehicles, we observe vehicles at that time of the morning, a lot of times, the drivers, if they're traveling for some distance, they're either tired or possibly intoxicated or something of that nature.

(Transcript p. 14).

- Q: All right, tell the jury exactly where you were, where the Dodge was and what happened that led to the stop?
A: I observed the vehicle as it was traveling south on Interstate 55. I conducted a traffic stop for careless driving. The vehicle came to rest at approximately the 108 mile marker, which is the Madison exit, southbound on Interstate 55.
Q: All right, you said that you pulled them over for careless driving. If you can remember, I need you just to specifically tell this jury what you observed the driver of the white Dodge doing that led you to pull them over for careless driving.
A: The vehicle was stopped for careless driving. Failure to maintain a single lane due to the vehicle going off of what we term the fog line, which could be the white stripe on the interstate, and then crossing back over to the center line.

(Transcript p. 144 - 145).

- Q: Approximately how many times did he fail to maintain a single lane. . . ?
A: Twice.

(Transcript p. 8).

- Q: . . . you had already determined that you were going to give him a ticket for careless driving?
A: That I had witnessed careless driving, yes, sir.
Q: And you were going to ticket him for it? That's the purpose for stopping him?
A: That's correct.

(Transcript p. 19). Additionally, Officer Sanders testified regarding their normal procedure for

“working the interstate”:

We monitor the flow of traffic. A lot of times, due to the time of night and all that we work, we have had several instances where you might pull out and you may follow someone and monitor their speed, their travel, whether or not they're weaving off the shoulder of the road. We generally - - well, we do. We conduct traffic stops. We have had several people that will tell you, yes, I have been traveling for several, for great distances, I am getting tired, and we'll direct them to the closest motel, or somewhere like that, or off the exit to where they can rest for a while, and we'll generally follow them to make sure they get there all right. In the same instance, we'll stop people for careless driving or whatever, and they have had too much to drink, and the sheriff's department has a DUI enforcement unit, we'll call them out to the scene and turn the case over to them, or we may monitor their travel and they're traveling fine, and we don't do anything. We don't conduct a traffic stop.

(Transcript p. 210).

Nonetheless, the Appellants claim the stop was pretextual. (Appellants' Brief p. 9). The Mississippi Supreme Court previously dealt with the issue of an alleged pretextual stop by quoting the Fifth Circuit as follows:

The traffic stop may have been pretextual. But under *Whren v. United States*, [517 U.S. 806, 116 S.Ct. 1769, 135 L.Ed.2d 89 (1996)], a traffic stop, even if pretextual, does not violate the Fourth Amendment if the officer making the stop has “probable cause to believe that a traffic violation has occurred.” This is an objective test based on the facts known to the officer at the time of the stop, not on the motivations of the officer in making the stop. On the other hand if it is clear that what the police observed did not constitute a violation of the cited traffic law, there is no “objective basis” for the stop, and the stop is illegal.

Walker, 913 So.2d at 225-26 (quoting *United States v. Escalante*, 239 F.3d 678, 680-81 (5th Cir. 2001)). Officer Sanders testified at the suppression hearing that the basic reason for the traffic stop was “failing to maintain a single lane” and explained that the vehicle was “weaving off the shoulder of the road and crossing the center line.” (Transcript p. 7 - 8). This certainly qualifies as belief that a traffic violation, i.e., careless driving occurred. Mississippi Code Annotated §63-3-1213 states that “any person who drives any vehicle in a careless or imprudent manner, without due regard for the width, grade, curves, corner, traffic and use of the streets and highways and all other attendant

circumstances is guilty of careless driving.” As this Court held in *Henderson v. State*, “carelessness is a matter of reasonable interpretation, based on a wide range of factors.” 878 So.2d 246, 247 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004). Moreover, the *Henderson* Court also noted that “failure to have regard for the width and use of the street by swerving off the side of the road or crossing the marker lines constitutes probable cause for a traffic stop.” *Id.* (citing *Saucier v. City of Poplarville*, 858 So.2d 933, 935 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003)). See also *Tran v. State*, 963 So.2d 1, 13 - 14 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (holding that “crossing a fog line” can be a reasonable basis for a stop); *Adams v. City of Booneville*, 910 So.2d 720 (Miss Ct. App. 2005); and *Guerrero v. State*, 746 So.2d 940, 943 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999). Thus, there was certainly substantial credible evidence that Officer Sanders believed that Calvin Shelton was guilty of careless driving. As such, a legal stop was made.

The Appellants assert, however, that even if there was probable cause to stop their vehicle, the officer’s “detention of them exceeded the purpose of the initial stop and there was no legal basis to expand the investigation.” (Appellants’ Brief p. 13). The State of Mississippi disagrees. In looking at the reasonableness of an investigatory stop, “the appropriate inquiry is ‘whether the officer’s action was justified at its inception, and whether it was reasonably related in scope to the circumstances which justified the inference in the first place.’” *Boches v. State*, 506 So.2d 254, 264 (Miss. 1987) (quoting *United States v. Sharpe*, 470 U.S. 675, 105 S.Ct. 1568, 1573, 84 L.Ed.2d 605 (1985)). At the hearing on the Sheltons’ motion to suppress, Officer Sanders testified in detail regarding exactly what transpired during the stop and about how the stop was conducted:

I approached the vehicle, spoke to the driver [Calvin Shelton]. I asked the driver to please step to the rear of the vehicle with his driver’s license and other paperwork. . . . once I made that request, I went back to the back of the vehicle and observed the occupants of the vehicle. They sat there for a moment, apparently looking for the rental agreement because they were shuffling papers around and conversing in the vehicle. Mr. Calvin Shelton, he came to the rear of the vehicle, and he was identified as the driver through his Georgia driver’s license, and then he was also identified as

the renter of the vehicle, which was verified. He handed me an Avis rental agreement. . . . After speaking with the driver, he had stated that they had been in New Mexico at a wedding of a family member. And I told him I would be with him in just one moment. I went up and spoke to the passenger, Reginald Shelton. And when I walked up to the vehicle, he was staring straight ahead, he didn't really want to make eye contact with me, but he was identified as the brother, or he stated he was Mr. Shelton's brother. I asked him where they had been. He said also that they had been in New Mexico, but he said just visiting some friends. . . . I did go ahead and ask for consent to search. And Calvin Shelton told me, he said, there's nothing in the vehicle. He didn't want me to search the vehicle. . . . I did run a records check through the sheriff's department. And I was waiting on that to return. And while doing so, I asked for another unit to come to the scene. . . I had a patrol canine with me, or he is a narcotics trained canine, and I used the dog to scan the exterior of the vehicle, and the dog did give a positive alert on the vehicle. . . . Mr. Shelton, being Calvin Shelton, was advised of the alert. The dog was returned to the vehicle. And by that time, or prior to the scan of the vehicle, Sergrant Pecu had arrived, and a check of the vehicle was conducted. . . . Whenever we opened the trunk of the vehicle, there was a duffle bag in the back portion. Their luggage was up, was on the front portion of the trunk and then up next to, I guess you'd say, the back of the rear seat, there was a duffle bag, and it was approximately 25 pounds of marijuana was located in the duffle bag.

(Transcript p. 8 - 13). Additionally, Officer Sanders testified that he did issue Mr. Calvin Shelton a ticket for careless driving during the stop. (Transcript p. 8).

As set forth above, Officer Sanders was justified in making the initial stop. So the inquiry becomes whether the detention exceeded the scope of the stop. In this regard, the Appellants question Officer Sanders' decision to question them about where they were going and where they had been. (Appellants' Brief p. 13). However, Officer Sanders testified during cross examination that some of the things he looks for while monitoring the flow of traffic at this time of night are overly tired drivers and intoxicated drivers. (Transcript p. 14). During trial when asked on cross examination what his purpose was in asking these questions, Officer Sanders replied:

Well, sir, my purpose of it was to, and the reason I asked him where he was coming or where they had been, I always determine maybe if there weaving was due to him being tired, possibly intoxicated or some other means. So I wanted to talk to him for a while to see if in fact he was tired or if had been drinking. . . . my purpose was to make sure that he would be okay to continue down the road. The last thing I would

want to do is let him go and then he have a wreck down the road because he was too tired to continue.

(Transcript p. 187). The Fifth Circuit stated in *United States v. Davis*, that it had “rejected the notion that mere questioning during a traffic violation stop, even on a subject unrelated to the initial purpose of the stop itself, is a violation of the Fourth Amendment.” 61 F.3d 291, 300 (5th Cir. 1995) (citing *U. S. v. Shabazz*, 993 F.2d 431, 436 (5th Cir. 1993)). The Court further held that “such questioning is reasonable if the detention continues to be supported by the facts justifying the initial stop.” *Id.* Officer Sanders’ purpose in making the stop was two-fold: to issue a ticket for careless driving and to make sure the driver was not intoxicated or too tired to drive. Certainly, asking questions about where the driver was coming from and where he was headed were related to this purpose.

The Appellants also question Officer Sanders’s decision to ask for consent to search their rented vehicle. However, the Fifth Circuit found no constitutional violation where the officer asked for consent to search a vehicle while waiting for results of a routine computer check after stopping a car for speeding. *U. S. v. Shabazz*, 993 F.2d 431, 437 (5th Cir. 1993). After being denied consent, Officer Sanders used the canine traveling with him to scan the vehicle. As noted in *Jaramillo v. State*, “[e]ven without reasonable articulable suspicion, the performance of a dog sniff of the outside of a vehicle by a trained canine during a routine, valid traffic stop is not a violation of one’s Fourth Amendment rights against unreasonable searches and seizures.” 950 So.2d 1104, 1107 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). The canine gave a positive alert at the trunk of the car; therefore, the search of the trunk was valid. *See Millsap v. State*, 767 So.2d 286, 292 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) (holding that “once the dog ‘alerted’ to the trunk of the car, probable cause to search the vehicle was established”).

Nonetheless, the Appellants argue that their situation is identical to that of *United States v. Dortch*, 199 F.3d 193 (5th Cir. 1999), a case wherein the conviction was ultimately reversed because

the Court found that the defendant was illegally detained. However, the case is easily distinguished from the situation at hand. In *Dortch*, the defendant was detained until the canine team arrived. In the case at hand, the Appellants were not forced to wait on the canine to arrive. The dog was traveling with Officer Sanders. While the specific time line of events is not entirely clear from the record, Officer Sanders's testimony indicates that while he was waiting on the results of the record check he asked for consent to search, called for another unit to come to the scene, and allowed the canine to scan the vehicle. (Transcript p. 11 - 12).¹ In *Dortch*, the Court noted that the justification for the stop ended when the results of the computer check came back negative and the dog sniff occurred after the completed check. *Id.* at 200. The *Dortch* Court went on to hold that the dog sniff, "if performed during the detention, would not have violated [the defendant's] constitutional rights."

Id. Furthermore, the United States Supreme Court held:

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